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Most scholars who study Holocaust perpetrators have invested more

energy in discussing the role of the leadership in the centers of executive

power than in investigating the actions of the killers in the field. Research

on the latter has focused on identifying personal motives and collective

attitudes; comparatively few insights are offered into the synergies

between units and agencies or between center and periphery at a specific

time. This article explores this interaction for the critical phase of

Operation Barbarossa, during which German units, and especially

Himmler’s SS- and policemen, crossed the line from persecution to the

murder of Jewish men, women, and children en masse. The author exam-

ines the leadership’s expectations and concerns prior to Operation

Barbarossa, and analyzes Himmler’s response to and interference in his

men’s actions in the East.

The mechanisms of control and escalation have long been perceived as key to the

functioning of the Third Reich.1 Inherent in the Nazi system since 1933, they

became critically important with the launching of Operation Barbarossa. In this

article, I argue that the concept of “controlled escalation” provides a framework for

analyzing the divergent, multi-layered, and incoherent events of what Raul Hilberg

labeled “The First Sweep.” During this decisive phase, German policy crossed the

threshold from persecution of Jews to their systematic annihilation. My aim here is

to test the usefulness of this concept by applying it to the actions of parts of the SS

and police apparatus during the period from June 22 to late September 1941.2

Within what Christopher Browning has called the “fateful months,” these were

crucial weeks; within the amorphous group of Holocaust perpetrators, Himmler’s

men were the most involved and visible. The insights gained from looking closely

at this short, highly dynamic sequence of key events can help explain how the

overall process of destruction unfolded.3
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Unknowns of Operation Barbarossa

During the last ten years, it has become widely accepted that the German attack

on the Soviet Union on June 22, 1941, marked the beginning of a war of annihi-

lation. By the end of 1941, the death toll among non-combatants was staggering.

Between 500,000 and 800,000 Jewish civilians had been killed and entire regions

were reported judenrein (free of Jews); many of the remaining Jews had been con-

fined to ghettos that were set up beginning in August of that year. Also in this

period, the murder of Soviet POWs reached its climax. Between the beginning of

fall 1941 and the end of spring 1942, more than two million of the 3.5 million

Soviet soldiers captured by the Wehrmacht were executed or perished as a result

of deliberate neglect or abuse. Further waves of violence accompanied increasingly

ferocious German anti-partisan actions. By the time of their final withdrawal in

1944, the Germans had destroyed most of the infrastructure of the occupied terri-

tory, burned thousands of villages, and depopulated vast areas. Total Soviet losses

are difficult to estimate, but a figure of at least twenty million seems likely.4

Equally staggering was the speed with which the wave of mass murder gath-

ered pace. In much of the occupied territory, the threshold of genocide was

crossed in the period under discussion with the targeting of women and children.

In the three months from the beginning of the campaign until the end of

September 1941, the number of victims killed in individual Aktions—a term that

the murderers used frequently to denote executions—had grown from hundreds to

many thousands, and the target group had expanded from men of military age to

include Jews of all ages and both sexes. Among the instances of mass murder in

the occupied Soviet Union, more than 76,000 were reported dead in Lithuania and

more than 44,000 in Ukraine by early September; in Kamenets Podolski almost

24,000 Jews lost their lives between August 27 and 30; and in the Babi Yar ravine

near Kiev, more than 33,000 were killed on September 29 and 30.5

In the opinion of nearly all specialists today, the murder of the Jews in the

Soviet Union marked a quantum leap in the process of genocide. What were the

driving forces behind what Hans Mommsen has called the “realization of

the unthinkable”?6 Hitler and his top leaders envisioned a “Jewish war” that would

end in some kind of “final solution,” but as far as historians have been able to

establish, prior to the beginning of Operation Barbarossa they issued no order that

demanded the killing of all Jews in occupied territories.7 The question thus arises:

How important were direct or indirect interventions by the Berlin central agencies,

as compared to local factors, in influencing German actions on Soviet territory?

Despite growing awareness of the complex mechanics and synergies of

perpetration, the prevailing image of the relationship between center and peri-

phery still seems rather too starkly dichotomous. It presents on the one hand a

leadership driven by deep-seated antisemitism, fully in control and engaged in

megalomaniacal political planning—which nevertheless refrained from issuing
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unambiguous orders calling for the murder of all Jews. On the other hand it posits

an amorphous mass of executioners who performed unprecedented crimes out of

conviction, opportunism, greed, or mere indifference. Are these in fact correct per-

ceptions of the leaders’ and the followers’ motivations, or can we come to a more

nuanced and realistic understanding of the driving impulses behind the actions of

these crucial weeks?

Before the unleashing of Operation Barbarossa, the German leadership

could not be certain that its political will would be carried out in the field. The

lessons learned during the first campaign in the East, the war against Poland in

September 1939, were ambiguous. An unprecedented degree of violence had been

used in Poland to deal with the civilian population, including Jews; some members

of the military and other German forces voiced concerns about the brutalizing

effect of mass executions and other atrocities on the men involved.8 Discipline—or

in Wehrmacht terms, Manneszucht—and the maintenance of order among the

troops were more critical after the launching of Operation Barbarossa, when

roughly three million Germans flooded eastward into the Soviet Union.

Heinrich Himmler had special reason to keep an eye on discipline problems,

as his apparatus had grown immensely since 1933 (most notably with the incorpor-

ation of the German police in mid-1936 and the formation of the Waffen-SS in

1939–40). Long before the beginning of Barbarossa, the Reichsführer had

attempted to foster an esprit de corps among his men by encouraging them

to embrace the message of Jew-hatred. Since the mid-1930s, ideological training

had been part of the curriculum for Himmler’s subordinates. Even before the war,

officers of the SS and police had begun to think of themselves as a

Staatsschutzkorps—a diversified security agency that would defend the Reich

against internal enemies—just as the Wehrmacht provided protection against exter-

nal foes.9 These men were exposed to antisemitic messages on a daily basis; they

also participated in the execution of anti-Jewish laws and regulations, including the

guarding of concentration camps. Gripping images such as those contained in the

movies Jud Süss (The Jew Süss) or Der ewige Jude (The Eternal Jew) dovetailed

with the lessons taught in police and SS schools.10

Under Himmler, the goal of ideological indoctrination was to transmit appli-

cable knowledge. Many teachers and students from SS and police schools later

became members of killing units—Einsatzgruppen, police battalions, and others—

deployed in the East. Officers involved in “field work” as well as in the planning of

the emerging Final Solution, including even Adolf Eichmann, lectured at these

schools.11 At the same time, as they began to carry out large-scale executions in

Poland, Himmler displayed a remarkably consistent interest in shielding his men

from any psychological effect the killings might have. His concern resulted partly

from his belief in the elite status of his apparatus, and partly from the function that

the SS and police began to play in securing the conquered “living space.” In
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August 1940, following a series of random shootings of civilians by SS and Order

Police units in Poland, Himmler’s deputy in the region reminded his officers of

“the Reichsführer’s personal wish that the execution commandos should be led

after the execution to diversion with mentally valuable content.”12

The “invisible luggage” that Germans brought with them across the border is

difficult to unpack. Attitudes towards the East are best documented for the top

Nazi leadership; Hitler himself habitually referred to Eastern Europe as potential

German “living space” and to the Soviet Union as the hotbed of “Judeo-

Bolshevism.”13 Yet, despite his calls for drastic measures against those he labeled

Germany’s archenemies, Hitler remained sensitive to the danger of dissent among

the rank and file. In a speech before army leaders on March 30, 1941, in which he

called for the “destruction of Bolshevik commissars and the communist intelligent-

sia,” the Führer advised his officers to give orders “in harmony with the sentiment

of the troops” (im Einklang mit dem Empfinden der Truppe).14 How this sentiment

would play out during Operation Barbarossa was difficult to predict. In

mid-September 1941, during one of his nightly musings about the recent past,

Hitler conceded that at the time of the attack he had expected expressions of pro-

communist sentiment within the Wehrmacht because “no one knew how it really

looked over there” or how the troops would behave.15

Another indication of the Nazi leaders’ anxiety about how far they should go

in the initial stage of Barbarossa can be found in the propaganda orchestrated by

Joseph Goebbels. With the invasion of the Soviet Union, the truce on the propa-

ganda front in the East came to an end. Yet, instead of immediately attacking

“Bolshevism and the Jews behind it” (Bolschewismus und seine jüdischen

Hintermänner), Goebbels instructed his propaganda machine to focus first on

portraying the attack as an “act of liberation” intended to preempt imminent Soviet

aggression. At the same time, “purely ideological arguments”—including

anti-Jewish slogans—were to be played down.16

Within two weeks after the beginning of the attack, the Wehrmacht had con-

quered vast areas of the Soviet Union, the Germans and their allies had executed

thousands of civilians, and the SD had reported that the popular mood on the

home front was good. Only then, on July 5, did Goebbels issue the “starting signal

for a very big campaign involving the best authors” that was aimed at denouncing

“the criminal, Jewish, Bolshevik regime.” Reports on crimes committed by the

NKVD before its retreat from Lvov (Lemberg, Lwów) and other places were to

exemplify “Jewish-Bolshevist normalcy” and prove the “bloody madness of the

Jewish-Soviet rulers.” To accelerate the ensuing “antisemitic wave,” the German

press was to refer to Hitler’s notorious “prophecy” of January 31, 1939, according

to which a world war would result in the destruction of the European Jews.17

What explains this time lag between the military campaign and the propa-

ganda war in the East? Immediately after the Germans attacked, it remained
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unclear whether the population at large and the troops at the front would embrace

a notion of ideological warfare calling for the ruthless destruction of potential

“enemies of the Reich.” In the summer of 1941, the Reich leadership’s concern

with possible discontent among Germans expressed itself in other ways as well,

including the monitoring of public opinion and efforts to ensure stable food

rations.18 Also in this phase, unpopular actions against the Catholic Church were

toned down and the so-called “euthanasia killings”—the subject of endemic

rumors—were terminated (temporarily, to be continued later in a more clandestine

manner).19 Within Himmler’s apparatus, orders were issued to reduce any poten-

tially unsettling domestic effects of security policy. “The Führer,” Heydrich

explained to his Security Police in early September, “has repeatedly stressed that

all enemies of the Reich use . . . every opportunity to sow disunity among the

German people.” Heydrich urged his officers therefore “to abstain from all

measures that can affect the uniform mood of the people”; characteristically, he

did not say to which measures he was referring.20 Thus it is clear that, regardless

of their assessment of the military situation on the Eastern Front, the highest eche-

lons in Berlin were preoccupied with maintaining quiet on the home front.

Events in the Field

How, then, did the Nazi leadership’s initial insecurity play itself out in the killing

fields of Eastern Europe? Himmler and his top officers used three main types of

intervention to radicalize—in a controlled manner—treatment of Jews: they sanc-

tioned after the fact aggressive actions taken by men behind the frontline; they

pushed for increased violence; and they reprimanded those who deviated from the

desired course of action either by showing too little initiative or by going too far

beyond their orders. All three strategies are reflected in the documentation avail-

able for the initial phase of Operation Barbarossa; yet, a close examination reveals

an imbalance that highlights the attitudes and preferences of those at the centers

of executive power.

Providing Sanction after the Fact

A frequently quoted SS and police directive concerning the treatment of the Jews

that was issued at the onset of the campaign against the Soviet Union called for

the execution of Communist Party functionaries, “Jews in Party and state posi-

tions,” and “other radical elements (saboteurs, propagandists, snipers, assassins,

instigators, etc.).”21 Events in the German-Lithuanian border region, where the

first mass executions took place, demonstrate that Himmler and his leading officers

contributed decisively to the escalation of German violence by sanctioning ex post

facto the actions of local commanders. Even so, it is difficult to determine whether

this or a similar, though undocumented order from Berlin triggered the mass

murder of Jewish men, women, and children that soon followed.
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On June 23, 1941, in the town of Garsden (Lithuanian: Gargždai), the

Leader of the Stapostelle Tilsit, Hans-Joachim Böhme, and the Tilsit

SD-Leader, Werner Hersmann, arrested 201 Jews—including a woman and a

12-year-old child—“for crimes against the Wehrmacht.”22 The next day, these

Jews were executed by an Order Police unit (Schutzpolizei) from the city of

Memel. Some of the victims and perpetrators recognized each other from

before the war. Also on that day, the two officers met with SS Brigadier

General (SS-Brigadeführer) Franz Walter Stahlecker, the chief of

Einsatzgruppe A. After the war, Böhme claimed that Stahlecker (who was

killed in 1942) had issued an order to shoot all Jews in the border area,

including women and children.23 However, Böhme’s own wartime account

proves that this was not the case. In a report sent to Berlin one week after

the first mass execution, Böhme wrote that Stahlecker had given his “general

approval for the cleansing actions” that took place close to the German border.

Böhme’s unit, now referred to as Einsatzkommando Tilsit, moved on from

Garsden. After more than 300 people had been shot in the towns of

Krottingen and Polangen for allegedly attacking German soldiers, Böhme’s men

met with Himmler and Heydrich in Augustowo.

In this town, the standard operating procedure for the interaction between

the center and periphery of the SS and police apparatus took shape. Böhme’s

report to headquarters dated July 1, 1941, shows how the center and periphery of

the SS and police apparatus interacted in these crucial weeks: “The

Reichsführer-SS [Himmler] and the Gruppenführer [Heydrich], who by coinci-

dence were present [in Augustowo], received information from me on the measures

initiated by the Stapostelle Tilsit and sanctioned them completely.”24 After these

early actions, Böhme’s unit continued its killing spree in Lithuania, claiming a total

of 3,302 victims by July 18, 1941. The vast majority of the 76,000 Jews murdered

in Lithuania by early September fell victim not to Böhme’s men, but to a subunit

of Einsatzgruppe A—Einsatzkommando 3, led by SS Colonel Karl Jäger. This unit

started the “cleansing” of the region with the help of Lithuanian collaborators.25

The beginnings of the Holocaust in Lithuania suggest that the push for these

extreme “measures” came from officers in the field who at the time offered various

justifications for their actions; references to specific orders are notably absent.

Böhme’s and Jäger’s reports, like those of many other officers, describe anti-Jewish

actions in sterile terms.

South of the Lithuanian border strip, equally destructive incidents reveal the

underlying motives of the perpetrators. Few of the early killings show as obvious a

link to Jew-hatred as the mass murder of Jews in Białystok on June 27, 1941, in

which men of Order Police Battalion 309 and other units subordinate to the

Wehrmacht’s 221st Security Division killed at least 2,000 Jews. More than 500

people, including women and children, were herded into a synagogue and burned
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alive. Those who tried to escape were shot. The massacre, which followed an order

to search for Red Army soldiers and Jews, was initiated by a few determined

officers who, it appears, inspired others to participate.26

The West German court that investigated the crimes in Białystok identified a

platoon leader and a company commander within the ranks of Police Battalion 309

as “fanatic Nazis.” Jewish men whose outward appearance matched antisemitic

stereotypes became these perpetrators’ first victims: their men set Jews’ beards on

fire, ordered Jews to dance, and shot Orthodox Jews in the streets. A member of a

police unit who expressed discomfort about these acts was rebuked with the words:

“You don’t seem to have received the right ideological training yet.” Higher-ranking

officers—among them the battalion commander and the commanding general of

the 221st Security Division—stood by. The general did not take notice that men

under his command were running amok until the violence had reached a park next

to his headquarters. He later tried to cover up the massacre as a “reprisal.”27

When the Reichsführer-SS arrived in the city on July 8, 1941, the wave of vio-

lence had temporarily subsided. While there, Himmler spoke with, among others,

the Higher SS and Police Leader (HSSPF) for Russia Center, SS General Erich von

dem Bach-Zelewski, and the commander of Police Regiment Center, SS Lieutenant

Colonel Max Montua. The following day, Order Police Chief Kurt Daluege came to

visit Białystok and delivered a speech on the fight against the “world enemy,

Bolshevism.” The chronological proximity of these visits and what followed in

Białystok seems to imply a causal connection, but it is equally likely that Himmler’s

approval of the earlier actions triggered new violence. Between July 8 and July 11,

perhaps beginning on the evening of Himmler’s visit, at least 1,000 Jewish men of

military age were driven to the outskirts of the city and shot by members of the

Order Police under the direction of the Security Police and the SD.28

Undoubtedly, encouragement from above had the effect of speeding things

up. On July 11, 1941, possibly in reaction to the earlier killings by Order Police

units in Białystok, Montua transmitted an order from HSSPF Bach-Zelewski for all

Jews aged 17 to 45 “convicted” of plunder to be shot. To prevent the emergence of

“places of pilgrimage” (Wallfahrtsorte), the units had to carry out the executions

clandestinely. No photographs or onlookers were allowed.29 The order transmitted

through Montua was significant beyond the instance at hand in that it provided a

semblance of formal procedure for what had started as random killings. Going

forward, his sanctioning of further killings created a new, more radical point of

reference for unit commanders in their anti-Jewish actions. Białystok was just one

city in the occupied Soviet Union among many that Himmler visited in the first

stage of Operation Barbarossa. Here, as elsewhere, the presence of the

Reichsführer-SS and his top officers was not required to trigger the murder of

Jews, but it helped to establish this type of killing as standard operating

procedure.30
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Pushing for Increased Violence

Himmler and his top officers played a more active role in other large-scale killings

than they had in Białystok and in the region east of the German-Lithuanian

border. Elsewhere, they provided direct incentives to step up the violence.

Bach-Zelewski’s July 11 order calling for the execution of all Jewish “plunderers”

aged 17 to 45 was issued in the context of an escalation in the killing process trig-

gered by Himmler himself. These events centered around the Kommandostab

Reichsführer-SS, formed in early 1941. Much larger than an Einsatzgruppe, Order

Police battalion, or stationary police deployment, the Kommandostab was a special

task force comprised of elite units of the Waffen-SS.

The Kommandostab arrived on the scene relatively late in the first phase

of Operation Barbarossa and with a clearly defined mission. On July 19,

Himmler began the process of reassigning two brigades that belonged to his

Kommandostab: the SS Cavalry Brigade (consisting of the 1st and the 2nd SS

Cavalry Regiments) was subordinated to Bach-Zelewski, HSSPF for Russia

Center, while the 1st SS-Brigade came under the command of Friedrich

Jeckeln, HSSPF for Russia South. In conjunction with several Order Police bat-

talions, these more than 10,000 men were to enable the HSSPFs to “pacify”

what was perceived as the main trouble spot in the occupied territory. The SS

Cavalry Brigade was sent into the Pripet Marshes, a vast, almost impenetrable

area that covered parts of Belorussia and northern Ukraine; the 1st SS Brigade

was deployed at its southern rim.31

The “Pripet-Aktion” demonstrates with particular clarity the crucial role of

Himmler’s regional representatives—in this case the HSSPF—as relayers and

amplifiers of information between center and periphery. Jeckeln and Bach pro-

vided the link between Himmler’s units and the Wehrmacht’s rear area comman-

ders, Karl von Roques in the South, and Max von Schenckendorff in the Center.

Apart from general instructions, the Kommandostab units had so far received few

indications of what their specific task would be. These men had undergone a

thorough indoctrination in antisemitism, and some had had their first lessons in

applied violence against Jews either in prewar Germany or in the campaign against

Poland.32 Even so, the Reichsführer remained cautious. When Himmler visited

the 2nd Cavalry Regiment on July 21, he spoke only in general terms about the

“grave task” (schwere Aufgabe) ahead of them.33

On July 27, the commander of the 1st SS Cavalry Regiment, Hermann

Fegelein, passed on to his subordinates more concrete orders from Himmler

regarding the villagers in the Pripet. “Criminal elements” were to be eradicated,

and Jews were to be treated “for the most part as plunderers,” which meant that

they were to be shot. Exceptions could be made for highly qualified persons such

as bakers and doctors; women and children were to be driven out of the destroyed
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villages together with the livestock.34 The following day, elaborating on his cavalry

units’ tasks in the swamps, Himmler reiterated that if the locals were “from the

national point of view inimical, racially and individually inferior,” they were to be

shot and their villages burned down.35

Many historians assume that, in order to learn what Hitler was thinking, it

helps to know what Himmler was doing. Indeed, the Reichsführer’s actions in this

phase illustrate the translation of radical resolve into murderous reality. Between

July 29 and 31, Himmler visited Kaunas in Lithuania and Riga in Latvia. We do not

know what he discussed there, but it seems that he instantly grasped the significance

of the lesson learned in the Baltics for his units farther south. On July 31, Himmler

met with Bach-Zelewski and Fegelein in Baranovici to monitor the units under their

command and to urge them to perform more violently.36 As a result, Fegelein

reminded the officers of his 1st SS-Brigade of the message that Himmler wanted

them to take to heart; namely, that only “uncompromising severity, drastic action,

and holding fast to the great ideas of the Führer” would ensure victory. The

Reichsführer would judge ruthlessly anyone showing weakness or breaking rank.37

Himmler’s advice created a ripple effect, at least in parts of the

Kommandostab hierarchy. In the early evening of August 1, the commander of the

Mounted Unit of the 1st SS Cavalry Regiment, Gustav Lombard, ordered: “Not

one male Jew is to remain alive, not one remnant family in the villages.”38

Although no order was issued calling for Jewish women and children to be killed,

word spread. In the days following, Lombard reported that his unit had taken a

new course of action: the “de-Jewification” (Entjudung) of several towns and vil-

lages. All Jews, including women and children, were murdered. As in Lithuania,

the murderers had adopted the more efficient killing practice of shooting victims

with automatic weapons.39 By August 11, the riders of the 1st SS Cavalry

Regiment had killed at least 11,000 Jewish men, women, and children—on average

1,000 per day, partly in remote villages, over a period of eleven days.40

Himmler’s role as commander in this escalation of violence in the Pripet

marshes in early August seems crucial. Yet, on closer investigation, the issue turns

out to be more complex. Lombard’s extension of the mass killings to women and

children as part of his “de-Jewification” strategy had not been prompted by an expli-

cit order. Farther south, however, the picture looked different. The commander of

the 2nd SS Cavalry Regiment’s Mounted Unit, Franz Magill, had received what

looked like clear-cut directives. On the morning of August 1, the regiment passed

on to its units the following stunning communication: “Explicit order by RF-SS. All

[male] Jews must be shot. [Adult] female Jews to be driven into the swamps.”41

There was no lack of clarity here, yet the order resulted in confusion. In a

report dated August 12, Magill explained why he had not done as he had been

ordered: the target group for execution had been restricted to what he called

“Jewish plunderers,” while skilled Jewish laborers were exempted according to the
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Wehrmacht’s demand. Magill continued: “Driving women and children into the

swamps did not have the success it was supposed to have as the swamps were not

deep enough for sinking to occur. After a depth of one meter one for the most

part hit firm ground so that sinking was not possible.”42 Clearly, Magill took a

literal approach to Himmler’s order, except that he extended its scope to involve

Jewish children. He did not get it quite right, though he proved himself to be

more adaptable to the circumstances when instructed by Himmler’s deputy in the

region. On August 6, Bach-Zelewski visited Magill’s unit during the execution of

6,000 Jewish men in the city of Pinsk; over the next few days, the scope of murder

was expanded to include older men and boys, but stopped short of including

Jewish women and children before the unit was relocated on August 9. In these

three days, Magill’s men collaborated with others in the killing of more than 9,000

Jews in Pinsk.43 Those who remained alive—roughly 20,000 people—were targeted

a year later in another killing sweep.44

August 13 marked the end of the first massive German descent on the

Pripet, with 13,788 reported “plunderers”—predominantly Jews—shot and 714

people taken prisoner. The Kommandostab’s cooperation with the security police

and SD as well as with the Wehrmacht could not have been better. Military com-

manders from the Rear Army Areas Center and South applauded the actions of

Himmler’s men and awarded decorations.45 While the most deadly killers received

praise, those who in Himmler’s eyes had shown a lack of resolve and adaptability

felt the brunt of the Reichsführer’s displeasure. Gustav Lombard was promoted to

commander of the 1st SS Cavalry Regiment; Franz Magill, on the other hand, was

assigned to a less prominent position in Poland.46 No serious fighting had taken

place during the Pripet action. The entire SS Cavalry Brigade with its roughly

4,000 men reported only two dead (who had driven over a mine) and fifteen

wounded from among its own ranks. Martin Cüppers, author of the first mono-

graph on the Kommandostab, estimates that by the end of 1941, Himmler’s cavalry

units had killed 40,000 Jews.47

Of all the crimes committed by Himmler’s Kommandostab in 1941 and after,

the action in the Pripet area in early August undoubtedly had the greatest impact

on the course of the Holocaust.48 And yet, its lessons for the Reichsführer were

ambiguous. On the one had, the Pripet action was successful in expanding the

scope of violence to include women and children; on the other, it demonstrated

the limits of central intervention. From the top leadership’s point of view, explicit

orders could be counterproductive if they created confusion, stifled initiative, or

did not correspond to the situation on the ground. More subtle calls for action, if

received by eager activists such as Lombard, appeared much more effective. Given

the enthusiasm of officers in the field, heavy-handed intervention by central

agencies was needed not to increase the speed and scope of the killings, it would

turn out, but to prevent the process from moving too far too quickly.
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Containing Violence and Its Potential Ramifications

The shocking death toll during the first weeks of the war against the Soviet Union

is the best indicator of Himmler’s keen interest in promoting the anti-Jewish acti-

vism of his commanders. Yet, in a few instances during this period, the leadership

came down heavily on SS or police officers who displayed excessive zeal in dealing

with the “Jewish Question.” These cases were addressed within the apparatus,

most notably by SS and police courts.

With regard to the level of control that the SS leadership exerted during the

unfolding of the Final Solution, it is important to note that Himmler tried to main-

tain an illusory boundary between legitimate and illegitimate actions against Jews.

No sanction was extended, at least in theory, to acts driven purportedly by greed,

bloodlust, or sexual motives—all of which were labeled “un-German,” or worse still,

not “SS-typical” (SS-mäßig). The decision about whether a course of anti-Jewish

action arose from “correct” or base motives depended on a range of factors, of

which the least important seems to have been the nature of the act itself. In fact, SS

and police courts usually became involved in cases in which an SS officer had lost

support within his peer group, there was heavy infighting for positions or perqui-

sites, or there was a possibility that incriminating information would leak out to the

general public. Himmler, as “Oberster Gerichtsherr,” often repealed the courts’

guilty verdicts. Nevertheless, the possibility of punishment for breaches of discipline

remained an important element of control within the SS and police.49

Among the few documented SS court cases involving murder and

other crimes committed against Jews, only one deals with members of the

Kommandostab. Together with several of his subordinates, SS Lieutenant Max

Täubner, leader of a workshop platoon in the 1st SS Brigade, had not only

exceeded the usual level of brutality in executing more than a thousand Jewish

men, women, and children between September and December 1941, but had also

taken photographs of the crime scenes. Täubner and his men were charged in

mid-1943 by the Highest SS and Police Court in Munich. According to the find-

ings of the court, one of the accused “would tear small Jewish children from their

mothers’ arms, grab the child in his left hand, and then blast it with a pistol held

in his right hand.” The court sentenced Täubner to ten years imprisonment for vio-

lation of his duties as an officer, insubordination, and homicide (for the killing of a

non-Jewish Ukrainian), but did not punish him for his “involvement in operations

against Jews.” “The Jews,” Himmler’s judges stated, “must be annihilated; there is

no great loss when it comes to any of them.” Yet, in the eyes of the SS lawyers,

what Täubner and his men had done was “unworthy of a German man and SS

officer.” The defendants’ acts were excessively brutal and thus undermined the illu-

sion of the sterile execution of the Final Solution. Characteristically, Himmler

intervened in January 1945 by pardoning Täubner and granting him a two-week
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furlough, following which he was sent to the front to prove himself. The most

bizarre turn of events took place after the war, when a West German court

declined to open proceedings against Täubner, arguing that the SS court verdict

prevented them from bringing new charges.50

During the war, court cases against men displaying baseness or excessive zeal

represented the ultimate fallback line in maintaining discipline within the SS and

police. Generally, Himmler used this tool cautiously and, as the Täubner case shows,

with great reluctance. He preferred to rely on the mechanisms of empowerment and

indoctrination that had characterized his leadership style since before the war. The

July 11 order transmitted by Montua not only called for all Jewish “plunderers” aged

17 to 45 be shot; it also reflected Himmler’s obsession with his men’s “mental

hygiene” following the executions: “Battalion commanders and company chiefs have

to make special accomodations for the spiritual care of the men participating in such

actions. The impressions of the day have to be blurred by social gatherings. In

addition, the men have to be continuously lectured about the necessity of measures

caused by the political situation.”51 The reality of these evening events after mass

executions in no way resembled Himmler’s idyll of German Gemütlichkeit (com-

fortable atmosphere, coziness). Yet, there can be little doubt that his insistence on

social gatherings helped his men to keep doing what he expected them to do.52

Ideological indoctrination and its permutations and results—within the SS and

police or in the Third Reich generally—remain under-researched. It is not clear, for

example, to what degree Himmler’s men were more exposed to antisemitic propa-

ganda than Wehrmacht soldiers or the German population at large.53 What is clear,

however, is that indoctrination in Himmler’s apparatus was neither brainwashing nor

a purely theoretical exercise. As long as the “job” got done, mass executions did not

require the direct involvement of each and every man or the application of pressure

to participate. The availability of eager habitual killers such as Max Täubner was as

important for genocidal efficiency as it was for providing the rest of the men with the

illusion that they were “ordinary” as they performed extraordinarily brutal deeds.

Himmler’s frequent calls for post-execution festivities would allow his men to

bond, unwind, and uphold a semblance of normalcy; these get-togethers were not

merely expressions of the Reichsführer’s whims but a key component in a deliberate

strategy to uphold the immediate and long-term coherence of his apparatus in a new,

potentially dangerous situation. In my view, nothing reinforced the relationship

between center and periphery as did the transformation of antisemitic propaganda

into action. Himmler’s indoctrination program and his men’s eagerness to accept the

leadership’s legitimization of anti-Jewish violence mutually reinforced each other. The

physical retreat from the Eastern occupied territories toward the end of the war

enabled the perpetrators to dissociate themselves psychologically from their crimes

and facilitated their more or less smooth integration, shielded by the myth of victimi-

zation, into postwar German society.54 Even decades after the war, few of those
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former SS- and policemen who became suspects or defendants in court cases dis-

played signs of grasping the significance of what they had done in the East.55

Containing aggression required greater resolve and a heavier hand where

non-Germans—who were not subject to the bonds established within Himmler’s

officer corps—were involved in anti-Jewish measures. The role of locals in the

extermination of the Jews of Lithuania, Latvia, and Western Ukraine, though

largely auxiliary, should not be underestimated. The Holocaust, defined as the

organized murder of Jewish men, women, and children, could not have evolved on

Lithuanian soil if imported German violence had not harmonized with residual

anti-Jewish sentiment among the local population.56 At the outbreak of the war,

and in some cases prior to the arrival of German troops, pogroms swept the

region. According to reports by Einsatzkommando 3, Lithuanians in Kaunas had

murdered 3,800 local Jews within days of Barbarossa’s launching.57

Neighboring Latvia, which the Wehrmacht had occupied entirely by July 10,

was the site of similar violence—though on a smaller scale. In Riga, an auxiliary

police unit under the nationalist Viktors Arajs, with the approval of Einsatzgruppe

A, killed several hundred alleged communists, Jews, and other “undesirable”

persons by mid-July.58 In Western Ukraine (Volhynia and Eastern Galicia), approxi-

mately 24,000 Jews were murdered by Ukrainians. By the end of July, pogroms sup-

ported by the Germans had claimed the lives of at least 5,000 Jews in the Eastern

Galician capital Lvov. Smaller-scale killings, such as the one in Jedwabne,59 often

went unrecorded in German documentation at the time.60

A Jew is dragged through a street in Riga by Latvian civilians as a German policeman looks on (July
1941). USHMM, Courtesy of Bernhard Press.
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SS and police officers in the East as well as in Berlin viewed the pogroms

with a mixture of approval and apprehension. Heydrich encouraged the

Einsatzgruppen commanders and the Higher SS and Police Leaders to instigate—

as unobtrusively as possible—“self-cleansing measures” on the part of the local

population. At the same time, however, he acknowledged that such measures had

to be directed “into the right channels.”61 It was clear that over the longer term,

“spontaneous” violence by locals had to be transformed into organized actions.

While Hitler remained highly skeptical of non-Germans bearing arms to enforce

German rule in the East, Heydrich and Himmler took a more positive attitude

toward the creation of auxiliary police units—provided that they remained under

tight German control.62

Both Heydrich and Himmler were acutely aware of the shortage of

German manpower for the purposes of “pacification.” Yet here again, the

tension between political planning and the reality of the occupation was resolved

first at the local level. For example, the German security police in Kaunas

formed a Lithuanian “Battalion for the Defense of National Labor” in early

July; over the next few weeks it grew rapidly and was subordinated to Karl

Jäger’s Einsatzkommando 3. As part of a unit referred to in German sources as

“Rollkommando Hamann” (after its leader), these men contributed greatly to

the astonishing figure of 133,346 murder victims (mostly Jews) reported by

Jäger in mid-December 1941.63 Here again we see controlled escalation at

work: after local agencies had tested the waters, the Berlin center transformed

these isolated initiatives into general policy. As the tasks of the police in the

East could not be fulfilled by police- and SS-men alone, on July 25 Himmler

ordered the organization of “additional protective units from the ethnic groups

suitable to us in the conquered area as soon as possible.”64

Himmler’s order marked the official creation of the Schutzmannschaften,

which became over time a crucial element in the attempt to “pacify” the occupied

Soviet territory.65 By late 1941, twenty-six battalions of local policemen had been

created, with a total of 33,000 Schutzmänner serving German interests. By the end

of 1942, some 300,000 local policemen were deployed under more or less strict

German control in a variety of functions.66 Mobile auxiliary police units from

Latvia and Lithuania helped to carry out mass murder deep in Belorussia, while

Ukrainians (as well as members of other ethnic groups) who had been trained in

Trawniki near Lublin served as guards in German death and concentration camps.

Stationary police forces ensured control over the area on a day-to-day basis, and

beginning in spring 1942 facilitated a second massive killing sweep in which the

occupiers targeted the remaining Jews in the occupied Soviet Union. As a means

of converting spontaneous violence into systematic persecution, Himmler’s order

of July 25, 1941, establishing local auxiliary police units was thus more effective

than any of the brutal pogroms.67
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Getting the Message

How great, then, was the extent of Himmler’s intervention, and how controlled was

the escalation in the first weeks of the Russian campaign? Himmler’s actions

during this period focused, in my view, not on pushing ahead at all costs, but on

remaining in control. He achieved this goal above all by ensuring that his men in

the field would act independently, making use of new opportunities, to advance his

policy goals. In the few cases in which he issued killing orders himself, the need

for such an order indicates that he had failed to communicate his earlier messages

and/or that his officers lacked initiative. Further evidence of the center’s preoccu-

pation with control can be found in German documentation that, in the search for

unambiguous orders, has been largely overlooked. These documents reveal that in

these weeks, Himmler and his top officers displayed an almost obsessive interest in

receiving information about events in the field.68

During Operation Barbarossa, the leadership required a steady and timely

flow of reports from subordinates in order to influence events as they unfolded.

This was especially true for the SS and police. Compared to the German military,

the prewar orders of these agencies had been less clear-cut. Moreover, their logisti-

cal infrastructure was stretched thinner, and there was a greater likelihood among

their ranks of officers acting too vigorously against real and imagined “enemies of

the Reich.”69

The SS and police leadership’s obsession with control manifested itself in

their calls for both information and action. In his order dated June 29, 1941,

Heydrich reminded the Einsatzgruppen leaders of the need for “self-cleansing

measures” on the part of the local population. At the same time, he demanded that

advance unit commanders display “the necessary political sensitivity” and stressed

that he expected regular reports.70 On July 4, Heydrich reiterated his supreme

interest in functioning communications in the context of his announcement that

local security police and SD offices in the border region were authorized to

perform “cleansing actions” after consultation with the Einsatzgruppen. Heydrich

threatened to withdraw this authorization if these units engaged in “further

actions” beyond those agreed upon for the purpose of operational coordination.71

Himmler’s emphasis on coordination and integration was essential to the

success of the controlled escalation of anti-Jewish violence. Ideological indoctrina-

tion and mechanisms such as the “comradely get-togethers” allowed his troops not

only to enjoy themselves and to vent frustration, but also to consider themselves

members of a community of fate. The degree to which acceptance of this shared

fate determined the German military’s tolerance of and active participation in the

war against Jews, partisans, and others deemed potentially dangerous has yet to be

investigated. However, it is evident that to Wehrmacht officers as well as to the

majority of Germans deployed in the occupied territories, brutal terror and blatant
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disregard for the most basic standards of human behavior seemed much less out of

place in the East than anywhere else.72

The fact that the dynamic driving the process of destruction cannot be

explained strictly in terms of center-periphery relations further highlights the

pivotal function of integration and the need for indirect control. Information was

communicated through vertical interaction between Himmler and his men in the

field (in the form of orders from the top down and reports from the bottom up), as

well as through two types of horizontal interaction: between separate agencies

deployed in the East and within a particular agency across geographical regions. In

the latter case, Himmler and his top commanders played a key role by facilitating

or speeding the transfer of information between units. Gathering reports from the

field, editing them, and conveying their essence back to their men was one way to

do this;73 paying visits to the rear areas ( just behind the areas of military deploy-

ment at the front) was another. Yet, even in areas to which Himmler and his Berlin

office heads did not travel, unit commanders of the Security and Order Police got

the message about the desired course of action and adapted in order to please

their superiors. Clearly, these officers were talking to each other and observing

what their colleagues elsewhere were doing. Reports that included astounding

execution figures assumed importance as notifications of success; by early August,

British intelligence analysts observed on the basis of intercepted German execution

reports that the Higher SS and Police Leaders “stand somewhat in competition

with each other as to their ‘scores.’”74

The pattern observable in the occupied parts of the Soviet Union in the

summer of 1941 warrants, in my view, a shift in emphasis away from traditional,

polarized understandings of the interactions between center and periphery,

between situative and ideological factors, and between personal motivations and

social pressures. Our ability to identify the root causes of SS- and policemen’s

conduct in these weeks is restricted by the absence of reliable documentation. If

we piece together the available fragments of the picture, the process of escalation

seems to have been driven not so much by direct intervention from the SS leader-

ship as by the eagerness of subordinate officers to adopt new, more radical

measures. Himmler and his top officers and regional commanders—especially the

Higher SS and Police Leaders—no doubt played a crucial role. Yet within and

beyond the SS apparatus, traditional elements of hierarchical formalism lost their

importance. Field officers interacted not only vertically, but also horizontally by

exchanging information between agencies or within agencies across regions. The

leadership allowed the authority to inflict suffering and death on civilians to

become detached from military rank and status as long as violence remained

within the ill-defined boundaries of “fulfilling one’s duty.” Junior officers and even

members of the rank and file could take the initiative as long as their superiors

provided support, encouragement, legitimization, or at least tacit acceptance.
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For the SS and police leadership in Berlin, maintaining control required

above all monitoring and coordination through reports and visits. As the

Kommandostab’s experience in the Pripet Marshes demonstrates, direct interven-

tion in the form of orders or clear directives from the center often created more

confusion than did vague guidelines that allowed officers in the field to decide how

to proceed. For the leadership, the message was clear: given the prevailing

German perception of the East, the effects of prewar indoctrination within the SS

and police apparatus, and the specific conditions found in occupied Soviet regions,

direct interference from Berlin was for the most part not required.

Peter Longerich uses the term “order environment”—Befehlsklima—to point

to the leadership’s reliance on their subordinates’ initiative and intuition.75 An

additional factor was the destructive consensus that defined the milieu within

which Himmler’s men acted in the occupied Soviet territories in these months.76

Yet, the image of uniformity created by Himmler and his officers to integrate their

troops has to be seen against the background of real differences in individuals’

functions and roles within the apparatus. Far from making the system dysfunc-

tional, these differences added fuel to its inherent dynamic—which explains why

the leadership did not try to eliminate them. As in other respects, the SS and

police apparatus mirrors German society as a whole in terms of what Jean-Paul

Sartre termed in early 1940 “real diversity in a mere affective unity.”77

After the summer of 1941, the leadership’s uncertainty about the course of

events in the occupied Soviet Union subsided to the point that it seems to have

disappeared. Unit commanders were eager to present as faits accomplis what at

the beginning of Operation Barbarossa had seemed but a possibility. In summing

up their “achievements” for 1941, Einsatzgruppen officers asserted that “a radical

solution of the Jewish problem”—the murder of all Jews—had been their aim from

the start, if only as a “vague notion.” The absence of any reference to concrete

superior orders is striking in these communications.78 Gestapo head Heinrich

Müller explained to some of his men in late September 1941 that, in the absence

of written orders, they had to “get used to reading between the lines and acting

accordingly.”79 Not only did those committing mass murder learn by doing, but

their top commanders and those in planning positions learned as well.

Eight years after the Nazi revolution, Hitler and his top officers could be

sure that a tendency toward violent, even murderous anti-Jewish activism was

present among their men. What they could not be sure of was whether German

elites and the population at large would facilitate the quantum leap towards mass

murder by consenting to, or as was the case for the majority of Germans, acquies-

cing in it. But by the end of the summer of 1941, none of the perceived dangers

inherent in the radicalization of anti-Jewish policy had materialized; within

German public opinion, preoccupation with the war and its effects on the home

front left little room for concern about the treatment of Jews.80 In mid-September

234 Holocaust and Genocide Studies



1941, German Jews were ordered to wear yellow fabric stars marking them as

Jews. The stage was thus set for their deportation to ghettos and killing centers in

Minsk, Riga, and Kaunas starting in November—an unambiguous indication that

the Reich’s leadership had by then dismissed the possibility of public unrest or sys-

temic malfunction in response to their handling of the “Jewish Question.” What

had started out as a possibility—a “final solution” by means of organized mass

murder—had become deadly reality.
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Jäger, contain no hint of any meeting with or order from Himmler during this period.

37. “Der RF-SS hat mich nochmals beauftragt, jedem einzelnen Führer ans Herz zu legen,

dass nur unbeugsame Härte, scharfes Zugreifen und Festhalten am großen Gedanken des

238 Holocaust and Genocide Studies



Führers das russische Reich erobern kann. All die kleinen persönlichen, unsachlichen

Schwächen und die charakterlichen Verschiedenheiten Einzelner müssen durch die

Gesamtausrichtung des Führerkorps ausgeglichen werden. Der RF-SS erkennt in jeder
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